**RECEIVED**

**Apr 25 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000362

Case No. 2023-CP-23-04474

Sonja Willis,..... Respondent,

v.

Rent-A-Center East, Inc., Rent-A-Center Franchising International, Inc.,  
Garrett Anderson Road Center, LLC and Does 1 through 20, Inclusive,  
Defendants, of which Rent-A-Center East, Inc. is the Appellant .....Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT RENT-A-CENTER EAST, INC.**

---

Benjamin R. Jenkins IV (SC Bar # 106346)  
1221 Main Street, Suite 1800 (29201)

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. Did the trial court err in denying RAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss Plaintiff’s Claims on the basis that there is insufficient evidence the Plaintiff signed the agreement with the arbitration clause?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter involves a dispute between Appellee Sonja Willis (“Willis” or “Appellee”) and Appellant Rent-A-Center East, Inc. (“Appellant” or “RAC”). Willis filed this lawsuit in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County, South Carolina, alleging injuries caused by furniture she acquired from RAC. (Compl.) Specifically, Willis alleges that she was bitten by bed bugs that were located on a couch and love seat Willis acquired from RAC in September of 2020. (Compl. ¶¶ 9-10.) Sonja Willis and her husband, Thomas Willis, opened an account with RAC on or about September 3, 2020 (the “2020 Account”). (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement.) Willis opened the 2020 Account to obtain household furniture from RAC pursuant to the Rental-Purchase Agreement (the “2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement”) and accompanying Consumer Arbitration Agreement (the “2020 Arbitration Agreement”). (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement; 2020 Arbitration Agreement.) Willis’ Complaint filed in the trial court expressly states that Willis entered into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement. (Compl.¶ 8; *see also* Tr., pp. 9, 10.) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement is specifically incorporated into the 2020 Rental Purchase-Agreement. (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement; 2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1 ¶ (A); Tr., pp. 4, 14.) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement requires both Willis and RAC to arbitrate any dispute or claim between them, including but not limited to those claims “arising under, arising out of, or relating in any way to any Consumer Contract entered between you and RAC at any time and/or any services rendered under or that relate to any such Consumer Contract.” (2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1 ¶ (B).) Because Willis has brought claims related to the furniture acquired through her 2020 Rental-Purchase

Agreement with RAC, they are subject to the 2020 Arbitration Agreement. Additionally, even if the Court were to determine that Willis did not properly sign the 2020 Arbitration Agreement with RAC, it is undisputed that she entered into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement that explicitly incorporates the 2020 Arbitration Agreement. (Compl. ¶ 8; 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement; 2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1 ¶ (A); Tr., p. 14.) Moreover, even if the Court were to determine that the 2020 Arbitration Agreement is not incorporated into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement (it is), it is clear that Willis' husband, Thomas, signed both agreements. (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement; 2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 4; Tr., pp. 10-12, 16.) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement requires any beneficiaries of the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement, such as Willis, to arbitrate any dispute with RAC as well. (2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1.) Thus, however the Court interprets the evidence the result is the same, Willis is obligated to arbitrate her claims against RAC.

Initially, and dispositively, the 2020 Arbitration Agreement delegates the question of arbitrability to an arbitrator. (*See* 2020 Arbitration Agreement.) The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly enforced such delegation provisions and held that courts do not have discretion to ignore delegation provisions and decide the threshold issue of arbitrability. In light of the above facts, RAC moved the trial court to compel Willis' claims against RAC to arbitration on October 6, 2023. (RAC Motion to Dismiss, or Stay, and to Compel Arbitration.) Willis did not file a brief in opposition. The trial court heard RAC's motion on February 5, 2024. (Tr., p. 1.)

On February 8, 2024, the trial court entered an order denying RAC's motion stating that there was insufficient evidence that the arbitration agreement was signed. (Feb. 8 Order.) An image of the trial court's order is provided below:

This matter is before the Court on Defendant Rent-A-Center East Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss, or Stay and to Compel Arbitration. Based on a review of the file, submissions of the parties, and oral arguments, the Defendant's Motion is hereby denied on the grounds there is insufficient evidence the Plaintiff signed the agreement with the arbitration clause.

It is so ordered.

**ORDER INFORMATION**

This order  ends  does not end the case.

See Page 2 for additional information.

*(Id.)*

On March 5, 2024, RAC filed its Notice of Appeal with this Court seeking relief from the trial court's error in deciding RAC's motion. (RAC Notice of Appeal.) There are numerous salient reasons for this Court to overturn the trial court's decision. RAC, therefore, respectfully requests that this Court issue an order overturning the trial court's February 8th Order and directing Willis to arbitrate her claims against RAC and dismissing this action with prejudice.

**STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

**Willis Opened an RAC Account in 2020.**

On or about September 3, 2020, Willis obtained furniture from RAC. (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement.) To obtain the furniture, Willis entered into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement with RAC. (Compl. ¶ 8; *see also* Tr., pp. 9, 10.) Willis' Complaint specifically states: "Plaintiff SONJA WILLIS entered in an agreement to acquire furniture from Defendant's Rent-A-Center Furniture Rental Store located at 2710 Anderson Road, Greenville, South Carolina 29611, United States, and Defendant delivered a couch and loveseat to Plaintiff." (*Id.*) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement is expressly incorporated into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement entered into by Willis. (2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement; 2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1 ¶ (A); Tr., pp. 4, 14.)

## The 2020 Arbitration Agreement.

The 2020 Arbitration Agreement states, in relevant part, as follows:

**PLEASE READ THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT. IT IS BINDING AND ENFORCEABLE UNLESS YOU SEND IN A REJECTION NOTICE, AS SET OUT IN PARAGRAPH (A) BELOW.**

This Arbitration Agreement ("Agreement") is between RAC and the Consumer. As used in this Agreement, the terms "Consumer" and "Consumers" mean the customers who sign this Agreement. The term "Consumer Contract" means the consumer lease, rental-purchase agreement, or retail installment contract between the Consumers and RAC. The terms "you" and "your" mean the Consumer, customer, lessee, renter, user, buyer, and other third-party beneficiaries of the items or services RAC is providing, will provide, or has provided to you. And the term "RAC" means Rent-A-Center, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliate entities (including but not limited to RAC Acceptance, Acceptance Now, Get It Now, and Home Choice), predecessors, or successors in interest. The Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16) ("FAA") governs this Agreement, which evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, you and RAC agree to resolve by individual, final, and binding arbitration any and all claims or controversies, past, present, or future, that RAC may have against you or that you may have against RAC and/or (i) its directors, members, managers, employees, or agents in their capacity as such or otherwise; (ii) its successors or assigns; and (iii) its clients and host stores, in accordance with the terms and procedures set forth in this Agreement. Each of the entities and/or individuals listed in this paragraph can enforce this Agreement.

**(A) Your Right to Reject:** If you want to reject this Agreement, you must send a written Rejection Notice, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to: Rent-A-Center Legal Department, 5501 Headquarters Drive, Plano, TX 75024-5837. The Rejection Notice must (i) state that you are rejecting this Agreement; (ii) provide your name, address, and phone number; and (iii) provide the agreement number from the Consumer Contract you entered into with RAC, which is incorporated into this Agreement as though fully set forth. A Rejection Notice is effective only if it is signed by all Consumers who signed the Consumer Contract with RAC and postmarked within fifteen (15) days after the date of those signatures. RAC will acknowledge your rejection in writing. You should retain the acknowledgement to establish rejection of this Agreement. If you do not receive the acknowledgement from RAC within fifteen (15) days from the date you sent the Rejection Notice to RAC, then you should contact the RAC Legal Department by mail or by email at [arbitration.reject@rentacenter.com](mailto:arbitration.reject@rentacenter.com). A Rejection Notice applies only to this Agreement and does not affect the validity or enforceability of any past or future Arbitration Agreements between you and RAC.

**(B) What Claims Are Covered:** You and RAC agree that, in the event of any covered dispute or claim between us, you and RAC agree to have that dispute or claim resolved by final and binding arbitration. This agreement to arbitrate is intended to be interpreted as broadly as the FAA allows. Claims and disputes subject to arbitration include but are not limited to:

- claims arising under, arising out of, or relating in any way to any Consumer Contract entered into between you and RAC at any time and/or any services rendered under or that relate to any such Consumer Contract;
- claims arising out of or relating in any way to your interactions with or any actions taken by RAC or any of its employees or agents, including but not limited to allegations that those employees or agents acted improperly in terminating your Consumer Contract, repossessing goods, or making complaints or reports about you to law enforcement, credit reporting bureaus, or any other third party;
- claims that arose before the execution of this Agreement or any current or prior Consumer Contract between you and RAC, such as claims related to advertising or disclosures;
- claims that arise after the termination of any Consumer Contract between you and RAC;
- claims that are based on any legal theory whatsoever, including negligence, breach of contract, tort, fraud, misrepresentation, trespass, the common law, or any statute, regulation, or ordinance; and
- except as specified in the Class Action Waiver below, any and all disputes relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability, scope, waiver, or formation of this Agreement, including but not limited to any contention that all or any part of this Agreement is void or voidable.

(2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1.)

The 2020 Arbitration Agreement details the types of claims subject to arbitration, stating that it requires arbitration of "claims that arise after the termination of any Consumer Contract between you and RAC" and includes "claims that are based on any legal theory whatsoever, including negligence, breach of contract, tort, fraud, misrepresentation, trespass, the common law, or any statute, regulation or ordinance." (*Id.*) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement also provides that it applies to "the Consumer, customer, lessee, renter, user, buyer, and other third-party

beneficiaries of the items or services RAC is providing, will provide, or has provided to you.” (*Id.*) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement further states that “[t]he Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1-16) (“FAA”) governs this Agreement, which evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce.” (*Id.*)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

South Carolina appellate courts review the appeal of a denial of a motion to compel arbitration *de novo* and will not reverse factual findings of the trial court that are reasonably supported by the record. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This appeal arises from Willis’ efforts to avoid arbitrating her claims against RAC by arguing that she did not sign the agreements with RAC and, therefore, cannot be enforced against her. The trial court erred in finding for Willis because the enforceability and validity of the agreements are for the arbitrator to determine, not the trial court, and even if such a determination fell within the ambit of the trial court, the agreements are enforceable against Willis and valid under federal and South Carolina law.

First, the 2020 Arbitration Agreement includes a specific delegation clause that provides that an arbitrator, not a court, must decide gateway issues, such as validity, formation, and arbitrability. Willis has never challenged the delegation clause. Thus, all issues related to the agreements and the arbitrability of the claim asserted against RAC are for an arbitrator to determine. This is true even if the court believes that the argument in favor of the applicability of the arbitration provision to the dispute at hand is “wholly groundless.” *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 65 (2019).

When it enacted the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.* (the “FAA”), Congress adopted a “liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements.” *Wiley v. Advance Am.*, No. 3:07-

3533-TLW-TER, 2008 WL 4179652, at \*9 (D.S.C. Sept. 5, 2008) (quoting *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 625 (1985)). In fulfilling this public policy, the United States Supreme Court has recognized the enforceability of delegation clauses in arbitration agreements. In the landmark decision of *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63 (2010), the United States Supreme Court explained that, even when an arbitration agreement is challenged under traditional contract principles, a court may not intervene unless there is a specific challenge to the validity of the delegation clause itself. This Supreme Court authority was adopted and implemented by the court in *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 609, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020), when the court held that where a delegation clause reserves issues for the arbitrator, “the FAA requires us to honor that agreement and leave resolution of these discrete gateway issues to the arbitrator.” Where agreements contain delegation clauses, as the agreements do here, it is for the arbitrator, and not the court, to rule on the enforceability and validity as to the arbitration agreement as a whole.

Willis has failed to specifically allege or argue that the delegation clause in the 2020 Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable and unenforceable. Instead, Willis has only offered blanket arguments directed to the agreements as a whole. (*See Tr.*, pp. 8-10, 14-15.) Under Supreme Court precedent, a failure to challenge the specific delegation clause requires all issues related to the agreements be submitted to the arbitrator, as the trial court should have done in this case. *See Jackson*, 561 U.S. at 72-75; *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440 (2006); *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395 (1967); *see also Howard v. Rent-A-Center, Inc.*, No. 1:10-CV-103, 2010 WL 3009515, at \*4-6 (E.D. Tenn. July 28, 2010).

Moreover, even assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court was the proper forum to determine the arbitrability of Willis’ claims, the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement, 2020 Arbitration

Agreement, and South Carolina law are clear – Willis must arbitrate her claims against RAC. It is indisputable that Willis opened an account to acquire furniture from RAC and “entered in an agreement” to acquire the furniture. (Compl. ¶ 8; *see also* Tr., pp. 9, 10.) It is also without dispute that this transaction was made pursuant to the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement and 2020 Arbitration Agreement. RAC delivered the furniture to Willis pursuant to these agreements, and the RAC furniture was undeniably accepted by Willis. In contrast to Willis’ contentions, she cannot admit to entering an agreement with RAC, have RAC deliver furniture to her, accept the furniture from RAC, and then turn around and claim that she is not subject to her agreements with RAC.

Willis has brought multiple claims against RAC based entirely on the furniture acquired subject to the agreements that Willis entered into with RAC. (*See* Compl.) As such, Willis cannot now assert that the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement and 2020 Arbitration Agreement (that is expressly incorporated into the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement) are unenforceable. Such an argument contravenes the most basic principles of contract law recognized by the state of South Carolina. This remains true even in light of the fact that the agreements appear not to be signed by Willis, as she has already admitted that she entered into the agreements with RAC and accepted the delivery of the furniture contemplated under the agreements. Moreover, South Carolina law does not require arbitration agreements to be signed in order to be enforceable.

Therefore, based on the plain language of the agreements, the allegations (or lack thereof) by Willis, Supreme Court precedent, and the laws and rules applicable to arbitration and delegation provisions, the trial court erred in denying RAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration. Thus, RAC respectfully requests that this Court overturn the decision of the trial court and refer all questions regarding the 2020 Rental-Purchase Agreement and 2020 Arbitration Agreement to an arbitrator.

## ARGUMENT

### A. The Trial Court Erred in Evaluating the Enforceability and Validity of the Agreements.

The 2020 Arbitration Agreement specifically states that “any and all disputes relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability, scope, waiver, or formation of this Agreement” are arbitrable. (2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1; Tr. p. 7.) This delegation provision is controlling, especially in light of the fact that it has not been specifically challenged by Willis. Therefore, the trial court erred in making a determination related to the “interpretation, applicability, enforceability, scope, waiver, or formation” of the agreements. (2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1.)

1. **Because the agreements included a specific delegation clause and incorporated the AAA rules, South Carolina and applicable federal law require that the arbitrator, not the court, must resolve all questions of arbitrability.**

The FAA was enacted by Congress to “overcome judicial resistance to arbitration.” *Buckeye Check Cashing*, 546 U.S. at 443. “The FAA reflects the fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract,” and it “places arbitration agreements on equal footing with other contracts.” *Jackson*, 561 U.S. at 67. The parties here agreed that all “claims that arise after the termination of any Consumer Contract between you and RAC” and including “claims that are based on any legal theory whatsoever, including negligence, breach of contract, tort, fraud, misrepresentation, trespass, the common law, or any statute, regulation or ordinance” would be subject to arbitration (2020 Arbitration Agreement, p. 1.) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement also provides that it applies to “the Consumer, customer, lessee, renter, user, buyer, and other third-party beneficiaries of the items or services RAC is providing, will provide, or has provided to you.” (*Id.*) The 2020 Arbitration Agreement further states that “[t]he Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16) (“FAA”) governs this Agreement, which evidences a transaction involving

interstate commerce.” (*Id.*) Therefore, the FAA and federal law control the arbitration agreement at issue.

The United States Supreme Court has specifically recognized that delegation clauses in arbitration agreements are enforceable. *See Jackson*, 561 U.S. at 63. A “delegation provision is an agreement to arbitrate threshold issues concerning the arbitration agreement.” *Id.* at 68. The Supreme Court has further affirmed that “parties can agree to arbitrate ‘gateway’ questions of ‘arbitrability,’ such as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers a particular controversy.” *Id.* at 68-69. “Typically, whether the parties have an enforceable arbitration agreement covering their dispute is an issue the court must decide,” but “parties are free ... to delegate such gateway determinations to the arbitrator.” *Howard*, 2010 WL 3009515, at \*3. Further, where parties have delegated gateway issues of arbitrability in the agreement, “a court possesses no power to decide the arbitrability issue.” *Henry Schein*, 568 U.S. at 68. Reference to the rules of the AAA “constitutes clear and unmistakable evidence of the parties’ intent to delegate arbitrability.” *Howard*, 2010 WL 3009515, at \*4 (citing *Bishop v. Gosiger, Inc.*, 692 F. Supp. 2d 762, 769 (E.D. Mich. 2010); *T.Co Metals, LLC v. Dempsey Pipe & Supply, Inc.*, 592 F.3d 329, 344-45 (2d Cir. 2010); *Awuah v. Coverall N. Am., Inc.*, 554 F.3d 7, 10-12 (1st Cir. 2009); *Fallo v. High-Tech Inst.*, 559 F.3d 874, 877-78 (8th Cir. 2009); *Terminix Int’l Co. v. Palmer Ranch Ltd. P’ship*, 432 F.3d 1327 (11th Cir. 2005)).

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