**RECEIVED**

**May 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000362  
Case No. 2023-CP-23-04474

---

Sonja Willis, ..... Respondent,

v.

Rent-A-Center East, Inc., Rent-A-Center Franchising International, Inc., Garrett Anderson Road Center, LLC and Does 1 through 20, Inclusive, Defendants, of which Rent-A-Center East, Inc. is the Appellant ..... Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SONJA WILLIS

---

Trevor P. Eddy, Esq. (100069)  
The Eddy Law Firm, LLC  
1516 Richland Street  
Suite B

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

### **Summary of Argument**

There are a host of reasons why this Court should not force Plaintiff to arbitrate her personal injury claims against RAC. From the beginning, RAC has a steep uphill battle enforcing the Arbitration Agreement simply on a contractual basis. Plaintiff was not a party to the original contract for the furniture that Mr. Willis purchased from RAC. Plaintiff was also not a party to the Arbitration Agreement. Quite simply, she signed none of these documents. Thus, merely on a contractual review, there is no evidence of the formation of an enforceable contract between Plaintiff and RAC: no bargaining, no meeting of the minds, and no consideration.

RAC's arguments that the Plaintiff should still be forced to arbitrate her personal injury claims against RAC, also fail. While RAC relies on the *Pearson* case, more fully discussed herein, for support of their equitable estoppel arguments, it is clear that the courts have moved past the reasoning in the *Pearson* case. Namely, that the courts apply South Carolina principles of equitable estoppel and this Court has found that those narrower South Carolina principles do NOT support RAC's arguments.

Lastly, there are fundamental defects in the Arbitration Agreement that prevent enforceability against Plaintiff and support the Trial Courts decision.

## Argument

### 1. The Trial Court did not Err in Evaluating the Enforceability and Validity of the Contract or Arbitration Agreement

“When considered in the proper context, our statements that the law ‘favors’ arbitration mean simply that the courts must respect and enforce a contractual provision to arbitrate as it respects and enforces all contractual provisions.” *Palmetto Construction Group, LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021). “There is, however, no public policy—federal or state— ‘favoring’ arbitration.” *Id.*

In *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 608, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020), the Court of Appeals found that arbitration agreements which invoke the FAA allow “the Court, rather than the arbitrator, to decide ‘gateway’ issues related to arbitration, including whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable.” This is the presumption unless there is “clear and unmistakable evidence” that the parties have chosen to “delegate these issues to the arbitrator.” *Id.* Once it is decided that the gateway issues of validity and enforceability have not been delegated away to the arbitrator, the court may invalidate an arbitration clause based on defenses applicable to contracts generally, including unconscionability. *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 612, 846 S.E.2d at 879 citing *Kindred Nursing Cts. Ltd. P’ship v. Clark*, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1426, 197 L.Ed.2d 806 (2017).

### 2. Respondent Is Not Required to Arbitrate Her Claims against RAC Under Equitable Estoppel

"Generally, arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which [it] has not agreed so to submit." *Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000). Section 3 of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") entitles litigants in federal court to a stay of any action that is "referable to

arbitration under an agreement in writing." 9 U.S.C. § 3. A litigant who is not a party to the relevant arbitration agreement may invoke Section 3 if the relevant state contract law allows it to enforce the agreement. *Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle*, 556 U.S. 624, 632, 129 S. Ct. 1896, 173 L. Ed. 2d 832 (2009). Here, Plaintiff is not a party to the relevant Contract for purchase of the furniture nor is she a party to the Arbitration Agreement both of which are only between RAC and Mr. Willis. Thus, RAC may only invoke Section 3 of the FAA if the relevant state law, here South Carolina law, allows it to enforce the agreement.

RAC argues that South Carolina adopted the doctrine of equitable estoppel under federal law and allows a nonsignatory to enforce an arbitration provision within a contract executed by other parties. RAC primarily relies upon *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012), in which the South Carolina Court of Appeals applied the FAA to resolve this issue.

However, *Pearson* ignored the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle*, which specifically held that "[n]either [Sections 2 nor 3 of the FAA] purports to alter background principles of state contract law regarding the scope of agreements (including the question of who is bound by them). Indeed § 2 explicitly retains an external body of law governing revocation (such grounds 'as exist at law or in equity')." 556 U.S. 624, 630, 129 S. Ct. 1896, 173 L. Ed. 2d 832 (2009). The Seventh Circuit recently reiterated *Carlisle* and clarified that courts must apply traditional state estoppel principles to decide whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable by or against a non-party. *Warciaak v. Subway Rests., Inc.*, 880 F.3d 870, 872 (7th Cir. 2018). Indeed, in *Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation.*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals even acknowledged that *Pearson* contradicts the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Carlisle* concerning the application of state law in determining whether an arbitration agreement is

enforceable by or against a non-party. *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679, 687-88 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016). Accordingly, this Court should apply South Carolina's equitable estoppel law to determine whether RAC is entitled to compel Plaintiff, a non-signatory to the Contract or Arbitration Agreement, to arbitration.

It is important to distinguish direct benefits from indirect benefits because when the benefits to a nonsignatory are merely indirect, arbitration cannot be compelled. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 343-45, 827 S.E.2d 167, 176-77 (2019). A benefit is direct if it flows directly from the agreement. *Id.*; see also *MAG Portfolio Consult, GMBH v. Merlin Biomed Grp. LLC*, 268 F.3d 58, 61 (2d Cir. 2001) (stating direct benefits estoppel requires that a nonsignatory knowingly accept the benefits of an agreement with an arbitration clause in order to be bound by an arbitration clause).

Here, Plaintiff, as a non-signatory to the Contract or Arbitration Agreement, never received any direct benefit from the contract. The only direct beneficiary of the contract Mr. Willis signed was Mr. Willis. Any other person who used that furniture would therefore be an indirect beneficiary and not covered in the Federal rules above. Therefore, equitable estoppel under federal substantive law has no application to the present case.

Now we turn to South Carolina Law on equitable estoppel. Under South Carolina law, "equitable estoppel is a means of preventing a party from asserting a legal claim or defense that is contrary or inconsistent with his or her prior action or conduct." *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 799 S.E.2d 912, 916 (S.C. 2017). "The essential elements of equitable estoppel are divided between the estopped party and the party claiming estoppel."<sup>3</sup> *Id.*

[T]he elements of equitable estoppel as to the party to be estopped are: (1) conduct which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts, or, at least, which is calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts to assert; (2) intention, or at least expectation, that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the real facts. As related

to the party claiming the estoppel, they are: (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question; (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) action based thereon of such a character as to change his position prejudicially.

*Thompson*, 784 S.E.2d at 688-89 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Boyd v. Bellsouth Tel. Tel. Co.*, 369 S.C. 410, 633 S.E.2d 136, 142 (S.C. 2006)).

In *Thompson*, a decedent's estate brought a wrongful death and survival action against a nursing home facility, and the facility sought to compel the case to arbitration based on an arbitration provision in the decedent's intake paperwork that was signed by the decedent's son and was not legally executed by the decedent or her representative. *Id.* at 682. The South Carolina Court of Appeals rejected the facility's arguments that South Carolina contract law, including equitable estoppel, would bind the estate to arbitrate the dispute. *Id.* at 687-690. The court reasoned that, because the decedent had dementia at the time of her admission, she lacked the capacity to form an intent to mislead the facility into believing she assented to arbitration or that her children had the legal authority to agree to arbitration on her behalf. *Id.* at 689. The court further reasoned that the facility failed to show a detrimental reliance on the representation of the decedent's children that they had the authority to execute the arbitration agreement on behalf of the decedent. *Id.* The court noted that the facility even represented the arbitration agreement to be voluntary and revocable within thirty days of execution. *Id.* As a result, the court held that the facility could not rely on the doctrine of equitable estoppel to compel arbitration of the dispute. *Id.*

Here the elements of equitable estoppel are even less applicable in this case than they were in *Thompson*. Nothing indicates that Plaintiff made a false representation or intended to mislead RAC into believing that Plaintiff entered into an arbitration agreement with RAC. Instead, there is no evidence that Plaintiff had any communications with RAC at the time Mr. Willis signed the Arbitration Agreement. Similarly, nothing indicates that RAC relied on Plaintiff's representations

as set forth in the Agreement, if any, to its detriment. Accordingly, RAC cannot rely on the doctrine of equitable estoppel to compel arbitration of this case.

3. The Arbitration Provision Does Not Delegate Any Gateway Issues To The Arbitrator, And Therefore The Court Retains Jurisdiction To Decide Whether The Arbitration Provision Is Valid And Enforceable

The arbitration provision does not contain a clause to the effect that any of the so-called “gateway” or “threshold” issues are delegated to the arbitrator to decide. However, the arbitration provision explicitly states that the “Federal Arbitration Act will govern the interpretation, enforcement and all proceedings.” The FAA presumes parties intend that the court, rather than an arbitrator, decide “gateway” issues related to validity and enforceability. *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 608, 846 S.E.2d at 877. “The FAA does not allow a court to make parties delegate issues they have not agreed to delegate.” *Id.*, 430 S.C. at 610, 846 S.E.2d at 878. This is consistent with the view of the Supreme Court of the United States that courts should assume that the parties intended the court to decide certain arbitration issues in the absence of “clear and unmistakable” evidence to the contrary. *See Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle*, 539 U.S. 444, 452, 123 S. Ct. 2402, 156 L.Ed.2d 414 (2003).

“Without an express delegation of these issues<sup>1</sup> to the arbitrator, there is no delegation of them that 9 U.S.C. § 2 requires the court to carry out.” *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 610, 846 S.E.2d at 877. Instead, it remains for the court to decide whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable. *Id.* citing *Harry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 530, 202 L.Ed.2d 480 (2019).

There is no delegation clause in the arbitration provision. Accordingly, the Circuit Court was the proper authority to determine whether the arbitration provision is valid and enforceable.

---

<sup>1</sup> E.g., Existence, applicability, interpretation and scope of the arbitration agreement, the arbitrability of the claim or dispute, and whether Agreement is valid and enforceable.

#### 4. The Arbitration Agreement Is Invalid Because It Is Unconscionable

“In deciding whether a valid, enforceable, and irrevocable arbitration agreement exists, we apply general principles of state contract law.” *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 611, 846 S.E.2d at 878 citing *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S. Ct. 1920, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995). In South Carolina, “a valid and enforceable contract requires a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to *all* essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Id.* Citing *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 578, 762 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2014). In the absence of the Plaintiff’s written signature, it is impossible to say that there was notice, much less a meeting of the minds as to any of the essential and material terms of the arbitration provision. The Arbitration Agreement does not indicate that the Plaintiff received any consideration for signing the Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, even if the Court finds that there was a meeting of the minds and that the Arbitration Agreement does not fail on basic contract principles, the Court may still find that the arbitration provision is invalid and unenforceable because it is unconscionable. *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 612, 846 S.E.2d at 879. To prove that the arbitration provision is unconscionable, the Plaintiff must show: (1) there was a lack of meaningful choice as to whether to arbitrate because the terms were one-sided; and (2) the terms were so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them, and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 612, 846 S.E.2d at 879 citing *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24-25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007).

##### a. Procedural Unconscionability: The Plaintiff lacked meaningful choice.

Determining whether the Plaintiff meaningfully chose to arbitrate involves sizing up the “fundamental fairness of the bargaining process.” *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 42, 49, 790

S.E.2d 1, 4 (2016). As stated in *Simpson*:

“Courts should take into account the nature of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff; whether the plaintiff is a substantial business concern; the relative disparity in the parties’ bargaining power; the parties’ relative sophistication; whether there is an element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause; and the conspicuousness of the clause.” 373 S.C. at 25, 644 S.E.2d at 669.

“We also consider whether the parties were represented by independent counsel.” *Smith*, 417 S.C. at 49, 790 S.E.2d at 4.

Even if this Court were to find that the Arbitration Agreement could be enforceable against Plaintiff, the disparity in bargaining power between the parties should give the court pause. To review this question, we must put aside the farcical nature analyzing the bargaining power between a multi-billion dollar corporation and an individual who, by all admissions and evidence, did NOT bargain with the corporation. There can be no inherent fairness in the bargaining of the terms of the Arbitration Agreement between RAC and Plaintiff given the vast disparity of the sophistication and size of the relative parties.

For the foregoing reasons, including the nature of the Plaintiff’s injuries, the Plaintiff’s lack of representation, the element of surprise and the lack of conspicuousness of the clause, as well as the disparity in bargaining power, this arbitration clause is procedurally unconscionable because the Plaintiff lacked any meaningful choice in choosing to arbitrate.

b. Substantive Unconscionability: The terms are unfair and oppressive.

“The FAA became law in 1925, passed primarily to safeguard the rights of merchants to use arbitration to resolve disputes arising over interstate commercial transactions by reversing the judicial hostility against arbitration.” *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 616, 846 S.E.2d at 881 citing *Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis*, 584 U.S. --, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1621, 200 L.Ed.2d 889 (2018).

The Court’s analysis is to look at the terms of the arbitration provision to see if they are “so

harsh and oppressive no reasonable person would offer or accept them.” *TCSC*, 430 S.C. at 614, 846 S.E.2d at 880. The arbitration provision provides that the:

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